No. 42224-7-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BRANDON MCWILLIAMS,

Appellant.

12 FEB 21 AM 9:53
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY [Signature]
COURT OF APPEALS
PIERCE COUNTY

ON APPEAL FROM THE
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,
PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Stephanie A. Arend (trial) and the Honorables Linda C.J.
Lee, Frank Cuthbertson and Ronald Culpepper (motion), Judges

KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK
WSBA No. 23879
Counsel for Appellant

RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE
1037 Northeast 65th Street, Box 135
Seattle, Washington 98115
(206) 782-3353

pm 2/17/12

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The prosecution's crucial main witness was improperly bolstered by and the court abused its discretion in allowing admission of evidence of prior consistent statements which did not meet the requirements of ER 801(d)(1)(ii).
2. The sentencing court violated McWilliams' state and federal due process rights in imposing as a condition of the sentences that McWilliams forfeit all property in evidence without following any of the mandatory statutory requirements for ordering such forfeiture.
3. The order of forfeiture violated RCW 9.92.110 by working a forfeiture based solely upon conviction of a crime.
4. McWilliams assigns error to the following conditions of sentence or of community supervision:

In section 4.4 of the judgment and sentence:

Conditions per DOC; CCO
Law abiding behavior
Forfeit all property seized

CP 334.

In section 4.6 of the judgment and sentence, he assigns error to the requirement to "comply with the following crime-related prohibitions: per DOC/CCO per Appendix F." CP 336.

He also assigns error to the portion of Appendix F which provided, in relevant part, that "[t]he Court may also order any of the following special conditions: x (VII) Other: Per DOC; CCO." CP 441.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. To be admissible, "prior consistent statements" must be made before the motive to fabricate arose, under circumstances indicating that the declarant did not foresee the potential legal consequences of the statement, and then only if there is a claim by the defendant that the witness had engaged in "recent fabrication."

Did the trial court err and abuse its discretion in admitting as "prior consistent statements" declarations made by a witness to an officer inculcating another when a) that

witness was himself accused in the crime and thus had a motive to fabricate, b) the statements were made after the witness had admittedly lied about his own involvement in the crime, c) the statements were made to police under circumstances where it was clear the witness knew the potential legal implications of what he was saying and d) there was no real claim of “recent fabrication” to rebut?

Further, was not error not harmless where the statements bolstered the crucial testimony of the prosecution’s main witness?

2. The authority to forfeit property is wholly statutory and is granted to law enforcement agencies in certain cases, provided they follow the requirements of the relevant statute. Did the sentencing court act without statutory authority in ordering forfeiture of property as a condition of the sentences when there was no evidence the statutory procedures had been followed?
3. RCW 9.92.110 abolished the doctrine that a criminal defendant was subject to forfeiture of his property simply because of being convicted of a crime. Did the order of forfeiture, based solely upon conviction, violate this statute?
4. To be proper, conditions of a sentence or of community custody must be statutorily authorized. Further, it is the duty of the court to impose conditions of community custody as part of a criminal sentence. Were these principles violated and did the court improperly delegate its authority to DOC by ordering that DOC could define the conditions with which McWilliams must comply?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

Appellant Brandon McWilliams was charged by information with two counts of first-degree assault, each charged with a firearm enhancement and a “gang motivation” aggravator; a count of second-degree assault with the same “gang motivation” aggravator; and first-degree unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 1-3; RCW 9.41.010(12); RCW 9.41.040(1)(a); RCW 9.94A.510; RCW 9.94A.530; RCW

9.94A.535(3); RCW 9A.36.011; RCW 9A.36.021.

After motion hearings before the Honorable Linda C.J. Lee on September 21, 2010, the Honorable Frank Cuthbertson on January 18, February 28 and April 11, 2011, and the Honorable Ronald Culpepper on April 4, 2011, jury trial was held before the Honorable Stephanie A. Arend on April 27, May 5, 9-12, 16-18, 2011, after which the jury found McWilliams not guilty of the first-degree assaults but guilty of three counts of second-degree assault with firearm enhancements, without finding the “gang motivation” aggravating factor. CP 318-27; RP 1102-1115.¹

On June 10, 2011, Judge Arends ordered McWilliams to serve 156 months - more than 14 years in custody. CP 328-41.

McWilliams appealed and this pleading follows. See CP 344.

2. Testimony at trial

On July 25, 2010, a little before midnight, someone fired a gun at a 7-11 gas and grocery store in Tacoma. RP 282-83, 494-97, 502.

City of Tacoma police officer Brett Beall responded saw a “female” running through the parking lot who looked back as she ran and appeared to be taking off a white shirt. RP 282-84. When the officer got

¹The verbatim report of proceedings consists of 15 volumes, which will be referred to as follows:

September 21, 2010, as “1RP;”
January 18, 2011, as “2RP;”
January 28, 2011, as “3RP;”
April 4, 2011, as “4RP;”
April 11, 2011, as “5RP;”
the 9 chronologically paginated volumes containing the pretrial and trial proceedings of April 27, May 9-12, 16-18, 2011, as “RP;”
the sentencing of June 10, 2011, as “SRP.”

closer to the store, he noted that one of the windows had holes in it, one about shoulder height and one about where a person's thigh would be. RP 285. The lower hole was "pretty small" and the other one was only about "fist size," even with the small amount of glass that had fallen out. RP 286.

The officer went inside and saw several people standing around who appeared to be bleeding. RP 285. A man named Lamar Reynald was holding his hand to his neck and had blood between his fingers, on his shoulders and on his shirt. RP 286. Reynald was "pretty freaked out," and was standing with a friend, Marquise Labee. RP 288.

TPD Officer Robert Denully, Jr., who saw Reynald's injury, said it appeared that Reynald had been struck by something like a piece of glass, rather than being shot. RP 316.

Another man, Paul Kimani, was wearing a uniform identifying him as working for the store. RP 287. He appeared to have been shot through his thigh. RP 287. Although Kimani's pant leg was bloody, he was still standing. RP 287. Medics were then called. RP 287.

An unfired 9mm bullet was found on the sidewalk outside the store and a bullet fragment was on a shelf inside the store. RP 289, 294. No casings were found. RP 289.

A search of the area, including the bushes, did not reveal a gun. RP 334. There were no fingerprints found on the bullet fragment. RP 529.

Nancy Pham, who testified through an interpreter, was working as a nurse across the street from the 7-11 that day. RP 580. She said she

heard a “boom” sound which drew her attention to the window. RP 586. She saw a woman in a black t-shirt and jeans coming out of an apartment complex and start “running around.” RP 585. Pham also said she saw a man with a white cap, white t-shirt and white shorts with a gun, waving it around. RP 581, 586.

Pham could not tell what race the man was, nor could she tell the race of the woman. RP 582-89. The man was in the middle of the street with his face towards the store when she saw him. RP 582-83.

Paul Kimani testified that he was working at the 7-1-1 counter and heard “kind of a commotion” outside so he went towards the glass wall to look out. RP 632-33. Kimani then heard a bang and realized he had been shot in his right thigh. RP 632-635. It was only his sixth day on the job. RP 637.

Kimani did not see who fired the one shot he heard, nor did he see who was involved in the commotion. RP 646.

Lamar Reynald said he and his friend, Marquise Labee, were at the store, standing in front handing out compact discs of their music, “asking people for donations,” while waiting for a ride to a party. RP 649-50. They had only been there about 8-10 minutes, Reynald said, when the incident occurred. RP 650.

According to Reynald, Labee told some guys to “check it out,” apparently referring to the CD. RP 651. The men, one white and one black, said, “f you” and “we don’t want to check it out.” RP 651-52. Reynald said Labee then felt “disrespected” and told the men, “you could have came a little more respectfully,” after which words started getting

“exchanged.” RP 651. Reynald thought everyone felt “disrespected,” admitting he was including himself. RP 651.

Marqise Labee said, in contrast, that the whole incident started when Reynald approached a white guy who said “no, fuck you” to buying one of their CDs. RP 592, 594. The white guy went into the store and Labee then confronted the black guy who had been with the white guy. RP 694. Labee said he told the black guy, “it’s not even like that,” and “we’re just out here selling our music, you don’t got to get an attitude.” RP 594.

Labee said he and Reynald were trying to explain they were “not trying to disrespect” anyone, just to “get our music out there.” RP 593. According to Labee, the white guy came back out of the store and then just hit Labee, who “blanked out” and a couple of seconds later opened his eyes. RP 593. Reynald and the other guy “got into it,” Labee said, and the sound of the shot was what “woke” Labee. RP 594-95.

Reynald said that, at some point, the white guy said something like “I don’t care if this is 96th”, followed by something about “Piru,” which is the name of a gang. RP 653-54. Reynald said he felt he was being “mistaken as a gang member.” RP 654. He did not, however, try to correct the misimpression. RP 654.

Reynald said that fists “were thrown,” Reynald saw Labee drop and then saw that a man had a gun, so Reynald hit that guy. RP 651. At that point, the gun went off. RP 651.

Reynald said he hit the guy because “it was me taking a bullet or me hitting him.” RP 654. But he also said he and the white guy “was scuffling on the ground” and it was only when he got up from the ground

that he “seen a gun,” also feeling it on his neck. RP 655. At that point, Reynald said, the white guy did not say anything. RP 656.

Reynald testified that he then just “swung” at the man. RP 656. Reynald also said he did not know if the gun went off due to the force of his punch. RP 656-57. He again maintained, however, “I hit him and then the gun went off.” RP 659.

Reynald could not recall what the white guy was wearing, other than a hat. RP 657. He did not see which direction the two guys went when they ran away. RP 660.

At trial, Reynald did not recall seeing the man with the gun “rack the slide,” although he had told police that he had. RP 663. Reynald said that all he knew was that after the scuffle, “there was a gun up to my neck” and he thought he heard a “click-clack” in his mind. RP 663. He maintained he “believed it was true at the time” but admitted he did not really recall. RP 664.

He summarized the events as follows:

I seen my friend get hit. I hit the guy in front of me. We’re swinging. We’re scuffling on the ground. I get up, there’s a gun to my neck, and, you know, there’s yelling. . . So in order to protect myself, I hit the person in front of me. The gun goes off while I hit him.

RP 660.

Reynald testified that the event occurred at about 10 at night. RP 658. The 9-1-1 call, however, was received at 12:01 a.m. and the first officer arrived at 12:03. RP 494-502.

Reynald admitted he had not really talked to police about the incident later, explaining that he did not live in a stable home or get

messages. RP 660. He did not have a family or any concerns which were affecting his testimony, although the prosecutor asked. RP 667-69.

TPD Officer Zachary Koehnke also responded to the 9-1-1 call and decided to see if he could find the woman Beall had described crossing the street. RP 321-23. Koehnke said he saw a woman cross the street nearby and stopped her by yelling. RP 326. He then brought her back across the street to the store for questioning. RP 326, 333. The woman, identified as Amber Pacheco-Noel, appeared to be about 21 years old. RP 284, 326-27.

Pacheco-Noel lived at an apartment complex nearby. RP 284, 326-27. Koehnke said Pacheco-Noel was upset and appeared to be “somewhat impaired or intoxicated.” RP 328.

Pierce County Sheriff’s Department Deputy Seth Huber also responded to the dispatch and, as he was headed there, saw a man run across the street. RP 336-40. The man started running faster when he saw the officer. RP 340. Suspicions raised, the deputy cut the man off with his car. RP 340-41.

The man was named Alighwa Henderson. RP 341. Henderson was “[n]ervous, excited,” immediately “wanted to deny anything,” and said he did not know what was “going on.” RP 432. Henderson had a little bleeding from what appeared to be a scratch on his left ear. RP 342.

TPD officer Tyler Meeds saw Huber speaking Henderson. RP 423-31. Meeds went to help Huber and saw a woman running in their direction, wearing just a t-shirt and underwear. RP 432. According to the officer, the woman was screaming and upset, saying “[o]h no, what did my baby do? Oh no, what did my babies do? Where’s my daughter?”

Where's my daughter?" RP 435.

The officer spoke with the woman and found out she was Kimberly Pacheco and lived at nearby apartments, known as the "Drake." RP 436.

The officers went to Pacheco's apartment and Brandon McWilliams answered the door. RP 438. He was shirtless but had on a pair of "white-type gym shorts." RP 438.

McWilliams was detained and the apartment was searched. RP 439. No firearms were found. RP 439-40. Someone "observed" a white hat on the kitchen table. RP 439-40. In the kitchen, in the cupboard on top of the fridge was a candy dish with five 9 mm rounds which were not spent. RP 441, 464. Meeds testified that the rounds were under some candy but admitted that this information was not in his report. RP 464. Two other 9 mm rounds were found on top of the cupboards in the kitchen. RP 441.

Meeds did not know when they were placed there. RP 464. No fingerprints were found on any of the rounds. RP 529.

Henderson admitted that he had been staying at that same apartment, at the same time as McWilliams. RP 789.

Pacheco-Noel's mom, Kimberly Pacheco, testified about that evening, when there were 10-12 people at her apartment, drinking, including McWilliams and Henderson. RP 775. Pacheco had consumed more than her "fair share" of alcohol and was very drunk. RP 776-77.

Pacheco's daughter, Pacheco-Noel, came up to her mom at some point in the evening, and said she was going to the store. RP 778. Pacheco thought it was about 1:45 in the morning, and she thought

McWilliams, who had a child with Pacheco-Noel, was still around, but also said everyone was “kind of scattered around,” outside on the back porch or by the pool. RP 778.

Pacheco admitted the neighborhood was “rough” and there were always a lot of kids hanging out in front of the 7-11, but she did not warn her daughter to be careful or anything when her daughter said she was going out. RP 780. Pacheco said she “didn’t think twice” about her daughter’s safety at the time, because she was “highly intoxicated” and “wasn’t probably really making responsible choices.” RP 780-82.

A little later, Pacheco was outside by the pool and heard “thousands of sirens going down the street.” RP 783. Although the sound of sirens was not unusual in the neighborhood, there were enough sirens going off that Pacheco became concerned. RP 783. She jumped out of the pool and asked a neighbor to stay while she tried to “run up” to the store to make sure nothing had happened to her daughter. RP 783.

Pacheco, who was wearing a swimsuit and long camisole, testified that she got as far as the parking lot of her apartments when she was arrested and thrown in the back of a police car “with no explanation of what was going on.” RP 783-87.

Pacheco said she did not scream anything as she ran, like “[w]hat did they do,” but only told her neighbors that she was going to see if her daughter was okay. RP 786.

Neither Pacheco nor Pacheco-Noel kept weapons or had ammunition or had seen any thing like that in the home. RP 789. Pacheco did not recall telling an officer that, if there were bullets found, they likely

belonged to McWilliams. RP 789. Although the officer who interrogated Pacheco remembered to the contrary, that officer ultimately admitted that Pacheco had only said they “likely” belonged to him, not that she knew. RP 882.

The officer, TPD office Julie Popkov, testified that Pacheco had said her daughter and daughter’s boyfriend had gone to 7-11 and that Pacheco had gone out looking for her daughter, who had been gone “longer than she was supposed to be.” RP 795-97. The officer noted that Pacheco “smelled heavily of alcohol and appeared to be intoxicated” at the time. RP 798.

Amber Pacheco-Noel testified that, when she told her mother where she was going, her mom said “hurry and get home.” RP 819. Pacheco-Noel testified that she left the apartment alone, went to the store alone, went inside and went to the front of the store with “two beers” she wanted to buy, then heard a “commotion” outside. RP 822. Several customers walked outside and the store clerk was getting ready to call police so no one was ringing people up. RP 824. Pacheco-Noel left her beer and debit card on the counter and went outside, seeing a fight. RP 822. She did not recall who was fighting, just that it was some black guys. RP 825.

Pacheco-Noel tried to get through on the sidewalk and had almost made it to the end of the parking lot when she heard a gunshot. RP 822. She testified that she ran across the street towards an “old folk’s” home and took her jacket off because she realized she had left her debit card inside the store. RP 823. She wanted to hide the jacket so people would

not recognize her when she went back to get the debit card, because she had a warrant out for her arrest. RP 823.

Pacheco-Noel said she went to the store, saw that a clerk was shot and asked if he was okay, walked out of the 7-11 and across the street and was walking away when an officer brought her back up to the store. RP 823.

Pacheco-Noel did not recall telling police that she heard arguing in front of the store, tried to break up the argument and started running when others ran, but did not hear any gunshots. RP 827. She reiterated that she was “highly intoxicated” at the time and so her memory was probably better now. RP 827.

An officer remembered Pacheco-Noel saying she did not hear any gunshots, that there were four or five guys involved and that they were all black. RP 884-85.

A surveillance video was introduced, showing what happened outside but not clearly identifying the participants. RP 365. TPD Detective Frederick Pavey, Jr., testified about security systems and how inferior the quality of the images often are. RP 385-95. He personally downloaded the video from outside the store and said it did not really produce images which could be “blown up” without becoming too blocky to be useful. RP 395-401.

The officer said when someone shoots a gun, there would usually be a “muzzle flash” recorded. RP 401. There was not one on the tape of the incident. RP 401.

When shown the video, Pacheco-Noel agreed that it appeared to

show her walking to the store, followed by by someone in black pants, a blue shirt and blue hat, as well as someone wearing white who appeared to be caucasian. RP 830. In the video, she was shown running out of the store towards the altercation going to the man in the white hat. RP 833. Pacheco-Noel said she remembered trying to run but not being able to get through. RP 833. She admitted that a part of the video showed what appeared to be her not being blocked but still “sticking around.” RP 837. When she walked away in the video she was holding the man with the black pants. RP 839. She was also seen coming back to the store with her white coat on. RP 848-50.

Pacheco-Noel agreed that it appeared in the video she was close up with the man in the black pants. RP 852-54. She said, however, that she did not recall seeing Henderson at the store that night. RP 852-53.

Henderson was wearing a blue shirt that night. RP 820.

A white shirt was found just behind the apartment. RP 367. The video of the incident showed someone wearing a long white shirt which an officer opined looked similar. RP 368. That shirt was not on a porch or hidden but was instead plain view and could have been left there by anyone walking down the alley. RP 375. It was also near a swimming pool. RP 388. The officer admittedly could not say if the shirt had been left there earlier by someone using the pool, given that it was the middle of summer. RP 380.

Alighwa Henderson testified that he was at a “little gathering” which included McWilliams that night. RP 539. Henderson confessed to having a lot to drink, both beer and hard alcohol, so that he was

“impaired” when he said he and Brandon McWilliams followed Pacheco-Noel to the 7-11 store. RP 540-41.

Henderson said that, when they got to the store, two black guys tried to sell them CDs out front but Henderson said he was not interested, then went into the store. RP 541.

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