COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

BRANDON MCWILLIAMS, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Stephanie Arend

No. 10-1-03135-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By JASON RUYF Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

¹⁷ The prevailing party need not cross-appeal a trial court ruling within the time allowed by RAP 5.1(d) if it seeks no further affirmative relief. *State v. Kindsvogel*, 149 Wn.2d 477, 480-481, 69 P.3d 870 (2003) (*citing McGowan v. State*, 148 Wn.2d 278, 60 P.3d 67 (2002)). "It is [the appellate court's] duty to affirm if the judgment of the trial court can be sustained upon any ground, whether it is ... [a] groun[d] stated by the trial court or not." *State v. Morales*, 173 Wn.2d 560, 580, 269 P.3d 263 (2012) (*citing State v. Carroll*, 81 Wn.2d 95, 101, 500, P.2d 115 (1972)).

characteristics, which is no more than the sum of the parts perceived."

Stratton, 139 Wn. App. at 517 (citing Commonwealth v. Weichell, 390

Mass. 62, 72, 453 N.E.2d 1038 (1983); Commonwealth v. Morgan, 30

Mass.App.Ct. 685, 573, N.E.2d 989, 992 (1991)); see also State v. Grover,

55 Wn. App. 252, 256-259, 777 P.2d 22 (1989). "The rule is based on a presumption that identification, shortly after an incident, will be more reliable than a later identification in court. 5D Karl B. Tegland, Wash.

Prac.: Courtroom Handbook on Washington Evidence author's cmts. at 414 (2011-2012 ed.) (citing State v. Bockman, 37 Wn. App. 474, 682 P.2d 925 (1984)).

The challenged evidence was an admissible statement of identification under ER 801(d)(1)(iii). Henderson was subject to cross-examination at trial. RP 557. The evidence established Henderson was in a position to perceive defendant when the charged assaults occurred. RP 538-541, 546-547, 549, 705-708; 21A. The identification properly included a description of defendant's physical characteristics and clothing. RP 705-708; *See Stratton*, 139 Wn. App. at 517. And Henderson's general description of the circumstances surrounding his observations was reasonably necessary for the jury to appreciate that he was identifying

defendant as the white male fighting at the 7-Eleven when the charged assaults occurred. *Id.*¹⁸

c. Any error associated with the challenged ruling was harmless

Even if defendant could prove his claim of error it would not serve as a ground for reversal since it could not be construed as prejudicial. *See State v. Cunningham*, 93 Wn.2d 823, 831, 613 P.2d 1139 (1980).

Nonconstitutional evidentiary error is not prejudicial unless, within reasonable probability, had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected. ¹⁹ *See Cunningham*, 93 Wn.2d at 831; *see also State v. Halstien*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 127, 857 P.2d 270 (1993)

Defendant seems to argue statements of identification are inadmissible under ER 801(d)(1)(iii) absent "some type of out-of-court identification procedure." App.Br. at 25. That interpretation of the rule is irreconcilably at odds with the authority defendant relies upon. See Grover, 55 Wn. App. at 255. Grover explicitly declined to read the requirement of formal identification procedures into the rule. Id.

Defendant also draws a false dichotomy between "statements of accusation" and "statements of identification." See App.Br. at 25. It is difficult to imagine anything more inherently accusatorial than a victim singling out another human being as his or her assailant, yet that is precisely the type of evidence contemplated by the rule. See Grover, 55 Wn. App. at 255 (witness identified Grover as the robber); Stratton, 139 Wn. App. at 514 (witness identified Stratton as one of the armed men in a first degree assault case); see also Owens, 484 U.S. at 556 (victim identified Owens as his attacker).

19 Defendant makes the general assertion that non-constitutional harmless error standard is satisfied when the erroneously admitted evidence was "important in corroborating the claims of the state's main witness." App. Br. at 17 (citing State v. Swange 45 Wn. App.

is satisfied when the erroneously admitted evidence was "important in corroborating the claims of the state's main witness." App.Br. at 17 (citing State v. Sweeney, 45 Wn. App. 81, 86, 723 P.2d 551 (1986). Sweeney cannot be fairly read as supporting the "important corroboration" rule proposed by defendant as such a rule would be contrary to the non-constitutional harmless error standard which looks to whether there is reasonable probability the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred. See 45 Wn. App. 85-86. That standard requires a review of all the evidence adduced in support of a defendant's conviction; it does not review the corroborating potential of a particular piece of evidence in isolation. See Sweeny, 45 Wn. App. 84-86.

(citing State v. Tharp, 96 Wn.2d 591, 599, 637 P.2d 961 (1981); Bargas, 52 Wn. App. at 705;²⁰ State v. Stark, 48 Wn. App. 245, 249-250, 738 P.2d 684 (1987); Ellison, 36 Wn. App. at 569.

Defendant cannot prove that he was prejudiced by the admission of the challenged evidence because that information was independently presented to the jury, without objection, during Henderson's testimony. Presented to the jury, without objection, during Henderson's testimony. Presented to the jury, without objection, during Henderson's testimony. Presented to the jury, without objection, during Henderson's testimony. Presented to the jury to consider it for any relevant purpose. RP 550-557, 946-974, 983-988, 994, CP 38-79, 85-87, 88-139, 140-197, 208-268, 269-317; see State v. Myers, 133 Wn.2d 26, 36, 941 P.2d 1102 (1997) (citing Lockwood v. AC & S, Inc., 109 Wn.2d 235, 255, 744 P.2d 605 (1987)). At worst, the challenged testimony reiterated facts that were already in evidence. See Stark, 48 Wn. App. at 249-250 (Harmless error when jury was otherwise exposed to the substance of erroneously admitted testimony).

Defendant's qualified objection to the challenged evidence was also too narrow to preclude the jury from hearing the testimony he

²⁰ Harmless error to admit prior consistent statements when declarant was present at trial and defendant elicited details about the declarant's challenged hearsay statements.

²¹ The challenged testimony consisted of Henderson's pre-agreement description of the charged incident to Detective Nist. RP 705-709.

Defendant raised on objection during the State's redirect examination, claiming that the State's use of the word "truthful" confusing. Defendant's objection was overruled. RP 574.

identifies as prejudicial on appeal. App.Br. at 17-18; *See* ER 103(1);²³ RAP 2.5(a). Defendant only objected to the admission of Henderson's prior consistent statement to Nist; he conceded Henderson's inconsistent statements to Nist were admissible and did not request an instruction to limit their use. RP 692; *see Myers*, 133 Wn.2d at 36. The challenged consistent statement and the conceded inconsistent statements were alike in that they tended to prove the disputed issue of identity by placing defendant at the scene of the crime. RP 539-541, 546-547, 550-557, 569-570, 572-575, 692, 705-709. The conceded inconsistent statements only substantively differed from challenged consistent statement in that the inconsistent statements included additional information about whether defendant brandished a firearm when he was there. *Id.* Since the central fact communicated by the challenged testimony—defendant's presence at the crime scene during the shooting—would have survived defendant's

²³ ER 103. Rulings on Evidence. (a) Effect of Erroneous Ruling. Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected, and (1) Objection. In case the ruling is one admitting evidence, a timely objection or motion to strike is made, stating the specific ground of objection, if the specific ground was not apparent from the context; or (2) Offer of Proof. In case the ruling is one excluding evidence, the substance of the evidence was made known to the court by offer or was apparent from the context within which questions were asked (b) Record of Offer and Ruling. The court may add any other or further statement which shows the character of the evidence, the form in which it was offered, the objection made, and the ruling thereon. The court may direct the making of an offer in question and answer form. (c) Hearing of the Jury. In jury cases, proceedings shall be conducted, to the extent practicable, so as to prevent inadmissible evidence from being suggested to the jury by any means, such as making statements or offers of proof or asking questions in the hearing of the jury. (d) Errors Raised for the First Time on Appeal. [Reserved—See RAP 2.5(a)].

qualified objection, the trial court's ruling could not have affected the outcome of the trial. *See Ellison*, 36 Wn. App. at 569 (Harmless error when jury could have inferred the consistency between statements from other evidence).

There is also no reason to assume the challenged testimony unduly influenced the jury. The jury was properly instructed on how to evaluate witness credibility and separately instructed on the special concerns attending the testimony of a cooperating accomplice. CP 270 (Instruction No. 1), 277 (Instruction No. 5).²⁴ It is presumed that the jury followed those instructions. *See State v. Weber*, 99 Wn.2d 158, 166, 659 P.2d 1102 (1983). The State explicitly directed the jury to its instruction on accomplice testimony during summation before arguing that Henderson should only be believed in so far as his testimony was corroborated by the independent evidence of defendant's guilt. RP 1023-1024, 1025-1033, 1050. The persuasiveness of that evidence makes it unreasonable to maintain that the challenged ruling deprived defendant of an acquittal. RP 283-284, 289-290, 326, 332-335, 343, 367-368, 378, 431-441, 497, 542, 548, 581-585, 635, 773-777, 783, 797, 812, 815-816, 819, 823, 839, 919-

²⁴ Instruction No. 5. "Testimony of an accomplice, given on behalf of the State, should be subjected to careful examination in light of other evidence in the case, and should be acted upon with great caution. You should not find the defendant guilty upon such testimony alone unless, after carefully considering the testimony, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt."

920; Ex. 9, 12, 15-17, 21A, 31. Defendant has failed to prove the challenged ruling prejudiced the outcome of his trial.

DEFENDANT RECEIVED A LAWFUL SENTENCE THAT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

Defendant claims the sentencing court exceeded its authority when it imposed the following three conditions:

- "(1) Conditions per DOC;25 CCO;26
- (2) Law abiding behavior;
- (3) Forfeit all property seized"

CP 334; App. Br. at 28.²⁷ Defendant claims the condition referencing the department of corrections was an impermissible delegation of the court's sentencing authority. App. Br. at 36. Defendant also argues the forfeiture condition violated his right to due process. App.Br. at 27.

The Washington Supreme Court has held that "in the context of sentence ... illegal or erroneous sentences may be challenged for the first time on appeal." *State v. Bahl*, 164 Wn.2d 739, 744, 193 P.3d 678 (2008) (citations omitted). Appellate courts apply the abuse of discretion

²⁵ Department of Corrections ("DOC").

²⁶ Community Corrections Officer ("CCO").

²⁷ "Under this State's determinant sentencing scheme, once a defendant has been convicted of a felony, the sentencing judge determines the defendant's standard range sentence based on the seriousness level of the current offense and the defendant's offender score." *State v. Jones*, 159 Wn.2d 231, 236, 149 P.3d 636 (2006) (*citing* RCW 9.94A.530(1), .510). If an offender is sentenced to the custody of the department of corrections for a "violent offense" the court shall, in addition to the other terms of sentence, sentence the offender to community custody for eighteen months. RCW 9.94.701. Assault in the Second Degree is a "violent offense." RCW 9. 94A.030 (54).

standard of review to conditions of sentence crafted by the court. *State v. Valencia*, 169 Wn.2d 782, 786, 239 P.3d 1059 (2010). A sentencing court abuses its discretion when its conditions are manifestly unreasonable. *Id.* Unreasonableness is "manifest" when it is "obvious, directly observable, overt or not obscure...." *See generally State v. Taylor*, 83 Wn.2d 594, 598, 521 P.2d 699 (1974).

a. The conditions of sentence requiring

defendant to cooperate with the department

and maintain law abiding behavior are not
ripe for review.

"Washington sentencing courts are required to impose certain community custody conditions in specified circumstances and may impose others." *State v. Bahl*, 164 Wn.2d 739, 744, 193 P.3d 678 (2008) (*citing* RCW 9.94A.712(6)(a)(i);.715(2)(a); .700(4); (5)). Preenforcement challenges to community custody conditions are ripe for review when the issue raised is primarily legal, further factual development is not required, and the challenged action is final. *See Valencia*, 169 Wn.2d at 786 (*citing Bhal*, 164 Wn.2d at 751). Appellate courts will also consider the hardship to the parties of withholding court consideration. *Id.* For example, conditions that place immediate restrictions on the offender's conduct without the necessity of State action have been considered ripe for review. *Id.* at 789.

Community custody conditions that require State action "are not ripe for review until the State attempts to enforce them as their validity depends on the particular circumstances of the attempted enforcement. *Id.* at 789 (citing e.g., State v. Zeigenfuss, 118 Wn. App. 110, 113-115, 74 P.3d 1205 (2003) (financial obligations not ripe for review until collection attempted); State v. Massey, 81 Wn. App. 198, 200-201, 913 P.2d 424 (1996) (condition subjecting defendant to search not ripe for review until search conducted); State v. Phillips, 65 Wn. App. 239, 243-244, 828 P.2d 42 (1992)).

Sanctions imposed on an offender for violating community custody are subject to judicial review. *See e.g.*, RCW 9.94A.737(2)(b); *see also State v. Zimmer*, 146 Wn. App. 405, 416-417, 190 P.3d 121 (2008). Appellate courts will not speculate about hypothetical situations where the department may unlawfully administer an offender's supervision due to the availability of post-enforcement review. *See Zimmer*, 146 Wn. App. at 417.

Defendant's pre-enforcement challenge to his community custody conditions is not ripe for review. The conditions do not raise an issue that is primarily legal. The trial court is empowered to order eligible offenders to comply with the administrative regulations promulgated by the department pursuant to its legislatively delegated authority. *See* RCW 9.94A.510(1), .530, .701, .704; *Valencia*, 169 Wn.2d at 792-93; *Bahl*, 164 Wn.2d 739, 744; *Jones*, 159 Wn.2d at 236; *State v. Sansone*, 127 Wn.

App. 630, 642, 111 P.3d 1251 (2005). "The department may require the offender ... to obey all laws." RCW 9.94A.704(4).

The challenged condition did not place immediate restrictions on defendant's conduct beyond those attending his status as a person lawfully committed to the department's supervisory authority. *See* RCW 9.94A.510(1), .530, .701, .704.²⁸ The challenged condition did not direct the department to act in excess of its statutory authority. It is therefore fundamentally different than the court-created condition the department was ordered to enforce in *Valencia*. 169 Wn.2d at 795 (court-created condition prohibiting Valencia's possession of "paraphernalia" held unconstitutionally vague).

Additional facts must be developed before review is possible. The challenged condition merely directed defendant to comply with the department's administrative authority during his sentence. There is no record of the department imposing conditions in excess of its discretion. It is expected and lawful for a sentencing court to order a prison bound defendant to follow the department's legislatively authorized directives

²⁸ See also e.g., DOC 420.155 (Offender movement will be regulated in prisons to maintain facility control and security); DOC 420.310 (department's procedures for searching offenders to control contraband); DOC 420.320 (Searches of facilities conducted randomly to minimize introduction of contraband).

throughout the duration of sentence. This assignment of error is not ripe for review.

b. The challenged community custody conditions are not an impermissible delegation of sentencing authority.

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